IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL ELY PEREZ,)
)
Appellant,)
)
vs.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appelles)
Appellee.)
)
	_/

CASE NO. SC03-1651

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CAROL STAFFORD HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

GARY LEE CALDWELL Florida Bar No. 256919 Assistant Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

Attorney for Daniel Ely Perez

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daniel Ely Perez appeals his conviction and death sentence for murder in the death of Susan Martin and convictions and sentences for armed burglary and robbery arising from the same incident.

The indictment charged appellant and Calvin Green with Martin's murder, burglary with assault or while armed (Count 2), and armed robbery (Count 3). I 4. Their cases were severed before trial. Appellant's jury found him guilty of felony murder, armed burglary with assault, and armed robbery. VIII 1202-03. The Court imposed a death sentence for the murder and life sentences for the other two offenses. IX 1468-75.

The jury made no finding as to whether appellant committed the crimes personally or vicariously by participation with Green. Their respective roles in the case were in dispute below and ultimately never resolved by the jury or the court.

An officer found Ms. Martin's body on the evening of August 29, 2001 in her Port St. Lucie home after a friend had tried to contact her. XVIII 875-77. A blunt force injury to the face had apparently caused a concussion, although there was no visible damage to the brain and no skull fracture. XXIV 1632-33. She would probably have survived the blow. <u>Id</u>. There were also a few bruises at the front of her forehead. <u>Id</u>. In addition there were numerous stab wounds. There were eight stab

- 1 -

wounds to the left side of the neck which penetrated about an inch into the body, four of which struck the jugular vein and would have been fatal. XXIV 1641. There were some scratches on the right base of the neck. <u>Id</u>. There were 24 stab wounds to the right torso approximately the same width and depth as those to the neck, about half-an-inch to one and-a-half inches in depth and they were about half-an-inch in length each. XXIV 1642-43. On the right side several of them went into the liver and right lung, resulting in hemorrhage of about 400 milliliters of blood into the lung, indicating that she was alive when stabbed on the right side. Id. These injuries would also have been fatal. Id. There were twenty stab wounds on the left side of the body, twenty-four in the middle to lower back, and eighteen to the abdomen. XXIV 1645-46. In all, there were 94 stab wounds, and a minor wound to the hand. XXIV 1646-47. The pathologist characterized this as a defensive wound, consistent with trying to ward off an attack. XXIV 1650.

The medical examiner testified that blood on the right side and the neck was very consistent with those wounds occurring first and the others occurring afterwards, but added: "Of course, often times things occur so quickly that you can get other wounds first, but looking at where the blood is one would say I favor the neck wounds and the ones on the right side as occurring first because of the absence of [or] little blood in

- 2 -

the other wounds." XXIV 1648.

The stab wounds to the neck would cause loss of consciousness within seconds to a minute or two, and brain death would occur quickly thereafter. XXIV 1649. The wounds to the liver or lung would also have been fatal within ten or fifteen minutes. <u>Id</u>.

The side door leading into the garage was somewhat open, and the window screen was cut, with one piece at the base of the door and the other in shrubs near the door, and the door's glass window was on some boxes inside the garage. XIX 970. The house had been ransacked. XIX 973.

Near the body was a bloody shoeprint on a newspaper. XIX 997, 1002. Treatment of the floor of the house with chemical agents revealed latent shoeprints not visible to the naked eye. XIX 1007-1008. An officer apparently left one of these latent shoeprints when the body was moved. XXI 1146, 1149.

Around 1 a.m. on August 28, Martin had called BellSouth on her cell phone to report that her house phone was not working. XXVIII 906. A telephone company employee said Martin ended the conversation by saying in a low tone, "I have to go." XXIX 926. She said Martin sounded "Not too scared but scared." XXIX 928. It was later found that the phone line had been cut. XXIX 945.

An amethyst ring and other items were stolen from Martin's home in July 2001, and she told the police that she suspected appellant, who was married to her niece. XVIII 889-90. Rani Beasley, a deputy who was worked also a jeweler, testified that Martin came into her jewelry store often, bought jewelry, asked her to design jewelry for her, and they became friends, and Martin would help out at her store, so that Beasley was very familiar with Martin's jewelry. XXI 1207. After the murder, Beasley located an amethyst ring and a black earring belonging to Martin at "A Quality Pawn" in Stuart. XXI 1208.¹ The pawnbroker testified that appellant brought these items in at the end of August 2001. XXI 1233-34. When told in July that Martin suspected that he had stolen the items, appellant suggested that a man who had been living with Martin at the time may have committed the theft. XVIII 890-91. He also said that the man may have stolen a Picasso painting from Martin. XVIII 891. Martin owned a Picasso ceramic plate, rather than a Picasso painting, and the plate, which was not taken in the July burglary or in the burglary during which Martin was killed, was found in Martin's house on September 6. XVIII 939, XXIII 1524.

The police questioned appellant on April 29 and 31, 2001, and then there was an interrogation throughout the night of September 5-6, with some breaks. The police made video and audio tapes of these interrogations, and an abridged version of

¹ The state's theory was that both the amethyst ring and the earrings were stolen in July. XVIII 857-58 (opening statement of prosecutor).

the tapes was introduced into evidence and played for the jury. Det. Michael Beath testified that the edited tape fairly represented the relevant conversations about the murder investigation. XXII 1279.

On the tapes, appellant initially denied stealing anything, but acknowledged that Martin had said that he and his wife had stolen the ring in July. XXII 1311-13.² He later said he stole a pill bottle from Martin's house, and the ring may have been in the bottle. XXII 1326-27. When the police accused him of the murder, he said that Gary Reed, known as "Man Man", wanted to steal Martin's car with Reed's cousin, co-defendant Calvin Green. XXII 1332-33. Reed and Calvin went to steal the car, and Reed returned and gave appellant a can of coins. XXII 1333-34. Reed had told appellant that he could get ten thousand dollars from a chop shop, and would "break you off" if he showed him or told him how to get to Martin's house. XXII 1336. Appellant would get a quarter of the proceeds. XXII 1337. Appellant said he only gave them directions to the house, XXII 1339, but then said³ that he led them there in his car. XXII

² All of the statements set out here occurred during the September 5-6 interrogations. Beath gave Miranda warnings at XXII 1314-15. Appellant was told that he was not free to leave on a part of the taped interrogation that was not played for the jury, SR1 164-65, at a time that corresponds to the gap at XXII 1328. This gap covers from SR1 161 through SR2 180.

³ The change seems sudden on the tape as played for the jury, but that tape excluded 16 pages of interrogation covered on the complete transcript of the interrogation. SR3 307-23.

1341. When they passed Martin's house, her lights were on. XXII 1344-45. Appellant parked and waited for them to steal Martin's Tahoe, but when they did not signal him with the Tahoe's lights, he drove back around to the house and saw the Tahoe in the driveway, the house door wide open, and Reed and Calvin running out of the door. XXII 1341-42. Calvin had blood all over him, and appellant took off, and one of them brought him the coins the next day. XXII 1342. When appellant drove up, Calvin "was sitting on top of her with a fucking switchblade". XXII 1345-46. He was punching her in the head, there was blood all over the place. XXII 1346. Calvin was on top of her as she lay on her back, and had a six-inch long switchblade. XXII 1348. He hit her with a brown stick with a gold tip. Id. Appellant hit Calvin and then took off. XXII 1351. He said that this was why his shoeprints were in the house; he put his shoes in a dumpster, and bought new shoes at Wal-Mart. XXII 1351-53. Calvin was "some kind of stabbing machine" and Martin "didn't make a noise. She didn't move. She didn't do shit. She was just gone." XXII 1355.

The police asked appellant to go through the entire sequence of events from A to Z. XXII 1357. He said he told the other two where the house was, but they then wanted him to show them where it was. XXII 1358. They drove there and parked and appellant waited for them to steal the car. XXII 1358-59. The

- 6 -

other two "wore do-rags, so they had to have gloves". XXII 1359. After waiting for ten to fifteen minutes, appellant came around the corner, found the door wide open and the lights on in the doorway, and saw Calvin on top of her. XXII 1360. Appellant grabbed him by the shoulders and shook him a couple of times. XXII 1360-61. Then appellant was in his car driving, and "they had me toss the knife." XXII 1361. They went to Cumberland Farms, where Calvin got rid of his bloody shirt in some woods. XXII 1362. The next day they gave appellant the coins. <u>Id</u>. The stick Calvin hit her with had a duck head. XXII 1365.⁴

Appellant's memories of the incident were in disjointed flashes, like a strobe light. XXII 1365, 1367-68. After shaking Calvin, appellant ran into the hallway looking for Reed. XXII 1368. In the bedroom, there were "clothes, boxes, and all kind of shit just spread all over the damn place." XXII 1369. Calvin had a bag with leaves on it, entered the bedroom, and began ransacking the place. <u>Id</u>. Appellant backed out towards the door; a jar hit the floor and appellant stopped near the body. XXII 1369-70. He went into the bathroom, then out the front door with blood on his shoes. XXII 1370-73. He went straight to his car, and the other two ran from the house with a bag and something else. XXII 1373. At Cumberland Farms, the

⁴ A brass duck head handle was found near a double sink in Martin's house. XIX 997-98.

brown bag had blood on it; appellant grabbed it, let it go, jumped in his car and left. XXII 1375.

Asked how they had gotten in the house, appellant said one of them told him he had unscrewed an exterior light, tried to get in through a window which would not break, then went in through another window and let the other one in through the front door. XXII 1376. When appellant asked why they had gone into the house, "He said because homeboy couldn't figure out how to get the damn Tahoe unlocked." XXII 1377. When they left, Calvin got in appellant's car, and appellant did not know what happened to Man Man. XXII 1388.

Appellant said he did not see Man Man in the house. XXII 1391, 1395. In all, appellant was in the house about four minutes and Calvin was inside for 20 minutes or more. XXII 1392. Calvin said he got into the garage, made a noise, and Martin opened the door and started screaming. XXII 1398. Appellant did not hear the screaming because he was listening to music in his car. XXII 1400.

The police told appellant that investigators had found the Tahoe unlocked. XXIII 1403. Appellant asked Det. Beath to promise that his wife and kids would not be hurt by Man Man. XXIII 1409. Beath replied: "Okay." <u>Id</u>. Appellant said he was afraid of Man Man, and repeated his request, and Beath said: "Go ahead with your statement. Go ahead. I'm gonna' do - I'm

- 8 -

gonna' do just like you said." XXIII 1411. Appellant again said, "But please, tell me." and Beath replied: "I'm telling you. Okay? I'm going to do everything I possibly can to take care of that request that you just made. Okay? All right? I promise you that." XXIII 1411.

Appellant then said he and Calvin drove to Martin's house, and appellant parked and waited for Calvin to steal the Tahoe. XXIII 1411. Instead, as Calvin told appellant later, Calvin noticed that the car was locked and tried to get into the house through a window. XXIII 1411-12. As Calvin tried to go in a door, Martin came into the garage and screamed. XXIII 1412. Calvin jumped at her, put her to the ground and murdered her. XXIII 1412-13. Meanwhile, because the Tahoe had not moved, appellant ran through the woods into the yard and saw the window and saw the door open and went inside. XXIII 1413. Calvin "had her on the ground and he was just jugging the shit out of her." XXIII 1414. "She wasn't moving. She was just gargling, like, like, there was a gargling sound." Id. Appellant flipped out, and he and Calvin went running through the house, and Calvin started throwing stuff around and filling his bag. Id. Appellant followed Calvin around as Calvin ransacked the house. XXIII 1415. Calvin found the key in a sheath and gave it to appellant, who threw it down. XXIII 1416. Calvin ran out to the Tahoe, and turned the ignition but then ran back and

- 9 -

followed appellant, who was running back to his own car. XXIII 1416-17.

Calvin had white or gray socks on his hands, XXIII 1421, 1423-24, and appellant took off his own white anklet socks and put them on his hands when he went inside. XXIII 1421-22. Calvin left the first pair in the house, and picked up another pair of socks in the house. XXIII 1423.⁵

Man Man was not at the house, but "hooked us up together." XXIII 1429. He told appellant to show Calvin where the Tahoe was, and they were to contact him afterward. <u>Id</u>. Man Man did the planning. XXIII 1429-30. Appellant had not known Calvin before. XXIII 1431. After stabbing Martin, Calvin came back and stabbed her some more times. XXIII 1433-34. After going to Cumberland Farms, where Calvin disposed of his shirt, they drove to Stuart where appellant told Calvin to take his stuff and go. XXIII 1436-37. There was the bag, a phone, a radio, and a big can of coins. XXIII 1437. Appellant did not want any of it. <u>Id</u>. Calvin later sent some diamonds to his girlfriend in Atlanta. XXIII 1438.

Det. Kelso asked appellant to go through it again, which appellant did. XXIII 1440-59. He said Calvin threw the knife out as they went over a bridge. XXIII 1450.

On further interrogation, appellant again went through the

 $^{^5}$ Officers found a gray sock in the hallway and a white sock near Martin's head. XIX 1002.

murder, saying he understood he could go to jail for burglary or dealing in stolen property, but he had not stabbed Martin. XXIII 1461. He said they knew Martin was home because they saw the lights on. XXIII 1465. Calvin cut the phone line with a switchblade. XXIII 1466. Appellant stopped and put on his socks before going through the door; he wore off-brand shoes from Payless that "looked like white Nikes" and were very old. XXIII 1468. He could see Martin from the back yard and saw Calvin go in the door. XXIII 1469. When appellant went in, Martin was on the floor, not moving. Id. He saw the duck thing and Calvin with the knife. XXIII 1469-70. Calvin said, "She bucked on me. She started screaming. She fucking bucked on me. She bucked on me. She didn't have to buck on me." XXIII 1470. As appellant came into the house, he heard "no screaming or none of that shit. It was more of - it was more of (sound effect) like, boom, boom, like - like if you were to get up and go like this on the wall." XXIII 1478.

On the afternoon of September 6, appellant drove around with officers to various places related to the case. A tape of this part of the interrogation was played for the jury. They went to a place on AlA where appellant threw a bag over a gate. XXIII 1484. They then went to appellant's place of employment, All County Moving, where he led them to the Tahoe key, a watch and a pen. XXIII 1485. They also went to a dumpster where he said

- 11 -

he had thrown his shoes, XXIII 1490, but his shoes were not found.

Det. Beath went to a mall with a photo of the shoeprint from the murder scene, and found a pair with soles that he considered similar in a Foot Action store. XXIV 1568-70. He then sent Dale Burns, appellant's father-in-law, to the same store with instructions to see if he could find any shoes similar to appellant's and that, if he was one hundred percent sure, he was to come out and point them out to Beath, which he did. XXIV 1571, XXV 1677-78. Two other family members were unable to locate shoes similar to appellant's at the store. XXIV 1577-78. A criminologist testified that he compared photographs of the shoeprint in the blood with these shoes and "was able to tell that they were of the same pattern and the same size of pattern based on what I could see in the photographs", adding: "When I say size it's physical size of the pattern, not the footwear or the foot size that somebody would purchase." XXV 1682. The individual characteristics of the bloody shoeprint were insufficient "to make a positive I.D. to any shoe even if you had the exact shoe." XXV 1683.6

⁶ The state introduced into evidence a pair of shoes taken from Calvin Green after his arrest. There was no expert testimony regarding these shoes, but defense counsel said in final argument to the jury without objection: "And then you've got Mr. Green's shoes. I want you to look at them. It's got the same V's, same chevron shapes as [the shoe print in the blood]." XXVI 1801.

One night around August 29, 2001, appellant went to a Cumberland Farms store in Stuart and told the manager that he had come in with his sister with some coins the night before and had exchanged them for cash. XXII199-1200. He and his sister said the coins belonged to their grandmother, and the manager exchanged the coins back for them. <u>Id</u>. Around that time, appellant went to A Quality Pawn Shop and said that he had some coins. XXII234-35. The pawnbroker said he could not tell him how much he would give for the coins without seeing them. XXII235. Appellant came back with a bag of coins the next day, saying he had gotten them from Cumberland Farms. <u>Id</u>.

At the penalty phase, a detective testified that appellant had a prior conviction for attempted murder of Michael Witt arising from an incident in appellant's house. Witt and some friends had gone to appellant's home, and appellant asked them to leave. He called Witt into the kitchen area as they were leaving, an argument ensued, and he grabbed a knife off the kitchen counter and slashed at Witt's throat and then stabbed him in the chest. XXVIII 1960.⁷

The state also presented statements from Margie Barnes, a friend of Martin, and Grace Burns, Martin's niece, regarding Martin's positive traits. XXVIII 1966-69.

⁷ Appellant discussed this incident with Det. Beath in a part of his taped statement which was not played for the jury. SR1 84-86, 90-91.

Members of appellant's family testified for the defense. Before appellant was born, there was another Daniel Perez born to the family - Daniel, Jr. - who lived only 19 days before dying from birth defects involving an undeveloped lung and fused XXVIII 1972, 1994, XXIX 2018. Appellant also had an spine. older sister, Carolyn. Appellant was born in 1977, and the parents divorced in 1980. XXIX 2017-18. Before the divorce, the family moved around a lot, including to Germany, because the father, Daniel Perez, Sr., was a Green Beret. XXVIII 1973, XXIX 2075. The father was very strict and very straight on house rules, and had no problems with appellant. XXIX 2026. At the time of the divorce, appellant could not sit still, was always doing something, a little hyper. XXIX 2022-23. After the divorce, the mother moved to Georgia and sent the children to Puerto Rico to live with her parents. XXVIII 1996. The father was badly injured in Army parachuting accidents, and retired to Puerto Rico, honorably discharged with a one hundred percent disability. XXIX 2019-22. He developed a nervous disorder in the Army, and had to take medication "to keep me down to earth". XXIX 2028-29. During the marriage, the father was sometimes verbally abusive to the mother, and physically abusive once or XXVIII 1997. Her second husband was physically and twice. verbally abusive. Id. When the stepfather was beating her up,

appellant tried to defend her. XXIX 2035, 2052, 2072.8

When appellant was about nine years old, he was sexually abused by two men who lived next door. XXVIII 2001, XXIX 2010-11. Appellant was already in special education classes, and he began not wanting to go to school and was being defiant, and they started medicating him with lithium when he was 9 ½ or 10 years old, and was placed in various psychological hospitals or mental health units, including Savannahs and Sandy Pines. XXIX 2011.

He was diagnosed with a bipolar disorder. XXVIII 1974. Because of his disability he would be up at night and wanted his mother's attention all night, and she had to stay up all night with him. XXIX 2013. He spent three birthdays and three Thanksgivings in hospitals. XXIX 2012. At age 10, he was in a special education class and later attended Challenger, a school

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