IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC03-1651

DANIEL ELY PEREZ,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Mitchell Egber Assistant Attorney General

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 North Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

Perez clearly had knowledge of <u>Miranda</u>, waiving his rights when they were given to him the first time at 10:07 p.m. on September 5 (SR 134):

> PEREZ: You're gonna Mirandize me? BEATH: Yes.

PEREZ: So, I'm under arrest?

BEATH: No, you're not, okay? Not right now. You have the right to remain silent, anything you say can be used against you in court, you have the right to an attorney, if you can't afford an attorney, one will be appointed to you. You have the right to stop talking at any time. Okay? You understand that?

PEREZ: Understood.

<u>Mirandized</u> for a second time later in the interrogation on September 6 and after their drive-around, Perez acknowledged his rights saying "okay" and agreed to continue talking (SR 490).

Perez contends he was not informed he had a right to an attorney during questioning, in accordance with <u>Miranda</u>. This issue was not raised at trial. In order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of that presentation. <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So2d 32 (Fla. 1985); <u>Steinhorst</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338; See <u>Phillips V. State</u>, 877 So.2d 912 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (issue regarding adequate advice of right to counsel during interrogation not preserved and fundamental error not found). However, if this Court were to find it preserved, Perez's claim is meritless.

The court made factual findings that Perez was properly advised of <u>Miranda</u> twice. In both instances he was first informed of his right to remain silent and, thereafter, advised of his right to an attorney. Twice he was advised if he wanted an attorney the interview would stop (SR 165,490) and if he decided not to speak anymore, the interview would stop. In essence, he was advised of his right to an attorney on at least three occasions.

The <u>Miranda</u> warning in the case at bar comports with the language of <u>Miranda</u> wherein a person in custody "must be warned prior to any questioning that he has the right to the presence of an attorney. <u>Miranda</u>, 384 U.S. at 479-480. In <u>Dickerson v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 530 U.S. 428 (2000), the Court re-affirmed the import of the rights as outlined in <u>Miranda</u> that a " suspect has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, <u>that he has the right to the</u>

presence of an attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires." 384

U.S. at 479 (emphasis added).¹³

Perez contends this discussion between Perez and Beath thwarted appellant's right to have an attorney present (SR 135):

PEREZ: So, let me ask you this, should I be call my, uh, attorney or something like that because I'm under arrest now?

 $\ensuremath{\texttt{BEATH}}$: It's up to you , if you want an attorney, then we stop

PEREZ: Then I can't leave anyhow

Law enforcement officers are not required to act as legal advisors for suspects during custodial interrogations. If, at any point during custodial interrogation, a suspect asks a clear question concerning his or her rights, an officer must stop the interview and make a good-faith effort to give a simple and straightforward answer. <u>Isom v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 154 (2002)(waiver of counsel not knowing and intelligent where defendant, convicted of various serious traffic offenses, asked if he needed lawyer for hitchhiking and officer only answered "no" and continued questioning); Almeida v. State, 737 So.2d 520 (Fla.

 $^{^{13}}$ The State is aware that the Fourth District has recently ruled on a similar issue in <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 874 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), *et al.* These facts are distinguishable.

1999) (police did not answer defendant's question); <u>Cf</u>. <u>Glatzmayer v. State</u>, 789 So.2d 297(Fla. 2001) (police acted properly responding to defendant's question about obtaining counsel in a straightforward way that "it was his decision to make", not theirs).

In fact, Beath stopped the interview and answered appellant's question properly. Perez knew what he was being asked about but never asked to telephone counsel, contrary to his assertions (IB 41). Beath told him it was up to him and if he chose to obtain counsel he would immediately stop the interrogation. Perez knew the simple, reasonable truth he was under arrest and could obtain counsel.

Perez's statement was not the result of being misled, police coercion, or duress as a result of the length of his interrogation. No facts to the contrary were presented to the trial court and Perez did not testify. Ignoring the factual evidence before the lower court, Perez now argues that his confession was involuntary. It should be reiterated that there is no evidence, particularly in light of Perez's statements, that his free will was overborne by either of the investigating officers.

Furthermore, to say his statements were an act of "compulsory self incrimination" due to defective <u>Miranda</u>

warnings where he was told on three occasions of his right to counsel and was properly given <u>Miranda</u> warnings does not comport with the substantial and competent evidence in this case. The trial court's ruling should stand and the motion to suppress denied.

ISSUE III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT GRANTING A MISTRIAL AS TO THE PROSECUTORS OPENING ARGUMENT AND DETECTIVE BEATH'S TESTIMONY (restated)

Perez contends it was error for the court to deny a mistrial where the state, in opening argument and through witness testimony, stated inaccurately that Perez always or regularly carried a knife. He says this error was prejudicial both at guilt and penalty phase.

Perez's claim is meritless as the prosecutor's opening argument was a proper comment on the evidence which he, in good faith, believed would be presented through witness testimony and through appellant's statement to the police regarding Perez's ownership and transportation of his knife. Beath's testimony was not prejudicial in light of Perez's taped statement to the police and the court's curative instruction. Neither is error and provide no basis for a mistrial.

A trial court's ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. <u>Goodwin v. State</u>,

751 So.2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 970, 980 (Fla. 1999) (explaining that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion and should not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion); <u>Hamilton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 703 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1997) (noting that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion).

Moreover, wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). It is within the judge's discretion to control the comments made to a jury, and we will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 902, 904 (Fla. 1990); <u>Breedlove</u>, 413 So.2d at 8. Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling. A trial court's determination will be upheld by the appellate court "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." <u>Trease v.</u> <u>State</u>, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000), citing <u>Huff v.</u> <u>State</u>, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990); <u>Canakaris v.</u> <u>Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980).

Prosecutors Opening Statement - In anticipation of opening statement, the State intended to introduce Perez's statement to

the police wherein he admitted "owning a little (not even 3") lock blade which he left in his pocket when he got off work" (R 1070-71) and that appellant had been working¹⁴ (R 1062). Additionally, the State planned to call Joseph Burns, Perez's brother-in-law, who had been deposed previous to trial, about Perez's propensity to carry a knife. Though Burn's testimony was subsequently ruled inadmissable (T 1261) he testified on proffer he knew Appellant to be in the <u>habit</u> of carrying a knife. On cross-examination while conceding upon first meeting Appellant he did not carry a knife (T 1259) he continued: "the last ten times, if it was ten times or more, the last of the time that I knew him since he was free, he carried a pocket knife with him, yes" (T 1260). The court indicated it was aware of this assertion previous to the State's opening argument(T 859).

The prosecuting attorney may outline evidence which he in good faith he expects the jury will hear during presentation of the state's case. Rutledge v. State, 374 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1979). Haws v. State, 590 So. 2d 1125 (Fla. 5th See DCA 1992) (prosecutor acted in good faith, referencing in opening, statements of incompetent witness he planned to introduce through her brother and later ruled inadmissible); Randolph v. State, 556 So.2d 808 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)(no grounds for mistrial

¹⁴Perez worked the Monday before the Tuesday morning murder.

when no evidence was established at trial where state in opening said stolen purse found in same area where defendant was arrested).

Perez contends that the prosecutor's opening remarks were irrelevant and contrary to the evidence in the case and for authority cites Miller v. State, 782 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001) which he claims presents an "analogous situation." (IB 50) Appellant's reliance Miller is misplaced upon and distinguishable from this case. In Miller, the defendant was charged with three counts of manslaughter when three occupants of a motor vehicle were killed as a result of a stop sign that was removed from an intersection. Investigators discovered that several local young people (defendant among them) had been involved in stealing other community traffic signs. Though admitting involvement in the disappearance of the traffic signs, the defendant denied any involvement in stealing the stop sign at the fatal accident scene. The defendant argued that the stop sign was still up the day before the accident and other traffic signs unrelated to the incident had been taken a couple of days before the incident. Acknowledging that this was an "extremely close case" the Second District pointed to the only two pieces of evidence from which the jury could infer that the defendant had taken the stop sign. First, the investigating officer who

spoke with the defendant indicated he could tell whether a defendant was lying by watching the movement of the speaker's eyes, even though he had not been qualified as an expert in body Second, a friend of the co-defendants testified he language. believed they told him the day after the accident they had taken the signs the day before. The court noted: "This testimony, if accepted by the jury, notwithstanding the other testimony to the contrary, provided the required competent, substantial evidence to tie the circumstances of the other thefts to the subject sign... Accordingly, we conclude that, even though the sufficiency depends on Jarrard's rather equivocal testimony, the record supports the trial judge's discretionary denial of the motion for a judgement of acquittal...the evidence had not been tainted by the prosecutor's closing remarks, the effect of which poisoned the resulting verdict." Miller at 429-430. The prosecutor's "poisonous" closing remarks were the deputy's testimony was referred to inaccurately, in that the jury was to apply the officer's "expertise" in evaluating the defendant's credibility and the prosecutor mis-characterized twice to the jury that the witness (Jarrad) was "relatively certain" that the signs had been taken the night before. The court concluded: "Because there is an absence of any direct evidence connecting Miller and his co-defendants with the sign in question, each

link in the chain of circumstances presented in the State's case is essential." <u>Miller</u> at 432.

A procedural distinction between Miller and the case at bar is when the comments occurred. Here, the prosecutor's comments were made in opening when he summed up to the jury what he believed, in good faith, the evidence would show. In Miller, the prosecutor's inappropriate comments were stated during closing argument, the ultimate summation of evidence which had been presented during the trial. In closing argument the State accurately summed up the evidence about Perez's knife: "He enters her house armed with his knife. You heard in the video the evidence of his interrogation early on he described the knife that he carries with him at work. He knows it well. His words, it's a little locked blade. It's like not even a threeinch blade and the medical examiner in this case describes the 94 stab wounds as being from half an inch to an inch and-a-half long, consistent with a very small blade" (1783);"... Perez carries such a knife that he described. Yet he said it was a six-inch switchblade that Mr. Green had. Another lie."(T 1789). It was an accurate statement so there was no objection. Moreover, at no point in both their pre and post closing arguments vis a vis the State, did either defense counsel choose to make any comment regarding the inaccuracy of the State's

claim or that their client did not own or carry a "little locked blade" knife(T 1753-1763, 1792-1820).

Additionally, unlike Miller, this is not an "extremely close case" where crucial evidence was mis-characterized by the State. Perez admitted he owned and carried to work a knife and that he would leave it in his pocket after he got off work. He orchestrated the underlying felonies to occur at Martin's home and knew she had other items of value. Perez knew the sensor lights had been disabled, the phone lines cut and the garage side door broken into. He entered the house with socks on his hands, was present during her murder and got blood from the victim on the bottoms of his tennis shoes, which he discarded. Perez attempted to pawn items taken in the burglary soon after the night of the murder and had admitted taking jewelry from the victim's home in a previous burglary approximately one month earlier. Finally, he took police on a drive-around to retrieve items taken in the burglary. Considering this evidence in conjunction with other evidence presented by the State, particularly the medical examiners testimony that there were 94 wounds perpetrated by a weapon similar to Perez's knife, comments regarding "the knife" in opening were not only on point but relevant as well.

More akin to this case is <u>Hartley v. State</u>, 686 So.2d 1316

(Fal. 1997). In <u>Hartley</u>, the prosecutor during opening stated: "I submit to you the evidence will show that (Hartley) was the "area tough guy", people in the area where this occurred were afraid of him". There was no specific testimony he was the "area tough guy". Noting comments regarding the defendant's character were more appropriate during closing than opening, the court denied a mistrial. In denying Hartley a new trial the court observed:

"The State made these comments in attempting to explain that its witnesses had refused to come forward immediately because they were afraid of Hartley... Hartley asserts that the State never produced any evidence to reflect that the witnesses were afraid of Hartley or that Hartley "was the area tough guy". We find no merit to this argument. A number of witnesses testified that they did not come forward immediately because they were afraid. Moreover, Hartley himself made statements to witnesses that he hoped to get away with the crime because the witnesses were afraid to testify. Because evidence was admitted to support the comments made by the State in opening, we do not find that the comments entitle Hartley to a new trial." Id., at 1321.

Here, the jury was instructed twice prior to trial, in final instructions and during closing argument they were only to decide the case from the testimony of the witnesses, evidence in the form of exhibits and that arguments of counsel were not evidence (T 843,857,1809, 1845). <u>See Rutledge</u>, 374 So.2d 975.

Even if this Court finds the prosecutors remarks improper, such error was harmless. The prosecutor, in closing, accurately

summarized Perez's relevant statement, the court's instructions were curative and there was overwhelming, corroborative evidence in the case. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986).

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